1953

# Salt Lake City v. Boundary Springs Water Users Association and Joseph M. Tracy : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant, a non profit corporation of Utah, filed application with the State Engineer, No. 70, to exchange water. A copy of the application is in evidence as Exhibit 1 (R. 33). This exhibit shows that 1.5675 second feet of water was to be used for domestic, stockwatering uses and incidental irrigation of lawns and shrubs; that the water is to be piped from what is known as Boundary

Spring, a part of the natural flow of Mill Creek; that "in lieu of water so diverted" the applicant is "to exchange for continuous flow in Mill Creek a quantity equal to the water so diverted and which has heretofore been conveyed through the open ditches named."

Under its Article of Incorporation, Exhibit 4, the defendant association was incorporated for the purpose of constructing a culinary water system from Boundary Spring. Each share of stock issued by the defendant association entitled the holder to .01 of a second foot of water through the association's water system, the holder agreeing not to withdraw more than that quantity of water. The certificate empowers the defendant to apply to the State Engineer for a permit to change the point of diversion and use of water owned by the holder. There is apparently no transfer to the association of the stockholders' water rights.

Under date of August 1, 1913, in an action entitled *Martha Young, administrator of the estate of James Young, deceased, vs. William Gordon, executor, et al*, in the District Court of Salt Lake County, a decree was entered by Judge C. W. Morse, adjudicating the rights to all of the waters of Mill Creek and vesting title to the use thereof in the various persons, parties to said action. A copy of said decree is in evidence as Exhibit 2, and will be referred to hereafter as "Morse decree." The decree uses the term "house use streams" to describe the first and highest priority rights in the creek, allo-

cating the same to various ditches and persons, among which are the Chamberlain Ditch, Stillman & Hussey Ditch, Stillman & Russell Ditch and the Skidmore and Osguthorpe Ditch. The right to the use of water claimed by the defendant association arises solely from the house use streams so decreed to or through the above named ditches. However, the association does not claim the right to all the house use streams defined in the Morse decree. Exhibit 3 is an abstract of the title to the house use streams from the decreed owners to the present owners whom the defendant association claims to represent in filing the application here involved. These rights involve a total of 1.55 second feet (R. 35), although the Morse decree decrees a total of 2.3 second feet to house use streams (R. 39).

Counsel for applicant seemed to take the position that the term "house use streams" refer to waters used solely for domestic or culinary use. This is an erroneous conception. Paragraph 2 of the Morse decree defines the term as "being the streams having a constant flow, except when it is otherwise specified." That paragraph also shows that these streams are to be taken out of the main channel except when irrigating water is running in the named ditches and is then to be taken from the irrigation waters. The Findings of Fact, upon which the Morse decree is based, are in evidence as Exhibit 25. Paragraph 6 of the Findings, covering the use and ownership of these "house use streams" finds that the named defendants, for the various years stated, "have

used said amount of water constantly for culinary, stock-watering, domestic and *irrigating* purposes, being waters commonly known as house use streams." This clearly indicates that the "house use streams" are not confined to waters used exclusively for culinary or domestic use; but are irrigation waters as well.

That the so called "house use streams" are not confined to the four ditches relied on by defendants is evident both from the Morse decree and from the Findings of Fact which support that decree. Subparagraphs (f), (g), (h), (i), (j), (k), and (l) of paragraph 2 of the decree, define house use streams that are not taken from either of said four ditches and some of them are only for a certain number of hours in each 7 or 8 days. Furthermore, it appears in subparagraphs (i) and (k) of the decree and in subparagraphs (j), (k) and (l) of paragraph 6 of the Findings of Fact that the water therein referred to is taken through the Franklin Neff Ditch, the water from which ditch was taken over by the East Mill Creek Water Company and in turn transferred to Salt Lake City by the exchange agreement, Exhibit 22. So Salt Lake City has a direct interest in these house use streams.

Defendants rely on paragraph 2 (m) of the decree as showing that the water decreed to the five ditches, whose rights the City acquired under the three exchange agreements, was for irrigation purposes only and so the City acquired no culinary or domestic rights. This paragraph reads:



“(m) The aforesaid amounts of water specified in paragraphs (a) to (l) both inclusive, except where it is therein provided that the same shall be deducted from the portion allotted to some of the diverting ditches, shall be deducted from the amount of water to be distributed to the various irrigation ditches at all stages of the flow of said Mill Creek, and the amount of water remaining after the aforesaid deductions shall be the amount of water to be distributed in the manner herein set out for general irrigation purposes through the respective irrigation ditches.”

The corresponding matter is covered in paragraph 6 (n) of the Findings of Fact and it is there found “and the amount of water remaining after the aforesaid deductions has been the amount of water that has been distributed for the general purposes through the respective irrigation ditches.”

It is clear that the decree does not say that the water remaining after deducting the house use streams is to be distributed only for irrigation purposes. It says that the water so remaining shall be distributed in the manner set out for general irrigation purposes. “In the manner” must refer to the method of distribution. The language clearly indicates there is water to be so distributed in addition to the irrigation water, otherwise it would not be necessary to state that the water shall be distributed in the same manner as the irrigation water. The decree could have simply said all waters, other than the house use streams, are to be used solely

for irrigation purposes. But this would have been in direct conflict with the Findings of Fact hereinabove quoted, which show that the water remaining after deducting the house use streams is used for both domestic and irrigation purposes at all stages of the flow.

In subparagraphs (a), (aa), (b), (c) and (f) of the decree it is specifically provided that when irrigation water is running in the named ditches the house use streams are to be taken out of the ditch and are then to be deducted from the irrigation water allotted to the particular user. Then in subparagraph (n) it is decreed that the amounts of water specified in paragraphs (a) to (l) inclusive, excepting therefrom the amounts to be taken out of the irrigation ditches, as provided in (a), (aa), (b), (c) and (f), shall be deducted from the amount of water to be distributed to the various ditches. The amount so left, which would include the house use streams to be taken out of the irrigation ditches as provided in paragraphs (a), (aa), (b), (c) and (f), is the amount "to be distributed in the manner herein set out for general purposes through the respective irrigation ditches."

This completely destroys defendants' construction of said paragraph m. In addition, we submit that to make defendants' construction at all tenable it would be necessary to insert a comma before and after the words "for general irrigation purposes."

There is nothing in the Morse Findings of Fact or the Morse decree to indicate in what proportions the waters of these house use streams were to be used for culinary or domestic purposes and for irrigation purposes. Application No. 70 does not purport to apply for a change of use and no application for change of use has been made.

Several of the stockholders of defendant association testified they owned some interest in the house use streams through one or more of the four named ditches and that they approved of the filing of application No. 70 by defendant association (R. 45, 48, 50 and 51). It was stipulated that the other stockholders, if present, would similarly testify. The names of stockholders are given in Exhibit 6, 7, and 8, a total of 35.

As stated in the beginning, application No. 70 is an application for the right to exchange water. The application states its purpose as follows:

“It is the purpose of the applicant, a non profit corporation, to divert the waters of Boundary Spring to the extent of two cubic feet per second, which water has heretofore commingled with waters of Mill Creek Stream as referred to in the Morse decree, and to convey it as indicated through a pipe line to a point approximately 1,000 feet East of the West quarter corner of Section 36, T. 1 W, R. k E, S. L. B. & M. and there divide among the owners for culinary purposes and in lieu of water so diverted to exchange

for continuous flow in Mill Creek stream a quantity equal to water so diverted, and which has heretofore been conveyed through the open ditches named in paragraph 11."

A published notice to water users of the filing of the application and giving opportunity to protest within the stated time, Exhibit 16, stated that it was proposed to divert 2 second feet of water from Boundary Springs and convey it in pipes to applicant's distribution system for domestic, stockwatering and incidental irrigation of lawns and shrubs. "Water heretofore diverted at points of diversion described will be allowed to remain in the natural channel of Mill Creek to satisfy other rights diverting in common from Mill Creek."

Contrary to the statements thus made in the application and published notice, the defendant association did not and does not propose to exchange water at all. It has no water to exchange for the water taken out at Boundary Springs. There was no proof or offer to prove that the applicant had or would turn back into the stream or into the named ditches the same quantity of flow taken out at Boundary Springs. There is a total and absolute lack of proof of that essential element. So we have an application to exchange water approved without any proof that the applicant can deliver water in lieu of that which it proposes to take. When this fact became apparent at the trial counsel for defendant association made a motion to change the application by adding the words "change or exchange" to the application.

Defendant association attempted, also, to show by witnesses and the rules and regulations of the State Engineer, Exhibit D-18, that the association really intended to file an application for change of point of diversion as to the 1.55 second feet controlled by it. See John Ward's testimony (R. 57, 65, 66) and Marvin S. Taylor's testimony (R. 64, 65) the latter testifying he took up a "change" application to the State Engineer's office, but a Mr. Cottrell had him fill out the exchange application No. 70 as filed, after Taylor had explained the purpose of the application.

It is apparent that the notice to water users, Exhibit 16, did not give notice that the purpose of the application was to change the point of diversion, but gave notice of the purpose to exchange water. The jurisdiction of the State Engineer and of the trial court to amend the application without republishing the notice to give notice of the real purpose was questioned. Counsel for defendant association finally withdrew his motion to amend the application, stating: "I have examined the notice of publication which is Exhibit 16, the application and the statutes, and I think the correct application has been filed and I withdraw my motion to amend." (R. 63). So it appears conclusively that we have here a situation where the State Engineer and the trial court approved an application to exchange water from four irrigation ditches for water in like amount, 1.55 second feet, for

water from Boundary Springs. But no such exchange was intended nor is the applicant capable of making such exchange.

The evidence of plaintiff shows the following without dispute: Salt Lake City entered into an exchange contract with East Mill Creek Water Company on July 19, 1923, Exhibit 22; with Lower Mill Creek Irrigation Company on March 14, 1927, Exhibit 23; White Ditch Company on September 6, 1928, Exhibit 24. As shown by its Articles of Incorporation, Exhibit 19, the East Mill Creek Water Company owned the water of Mill Creek conducted through the Brigham Young Ditch, the Franklin and John Neff Ditch and the Amos H. Neff Ditch referred to in the Morse decree. The exchange contract above referred to conveyed the rights of these three ditches to this water to Salt Lake City. The Articles of Incorporation of the Lower Mill Creek Irrigation Company, Exhibit 20, show that thirty one persons conveyed to that company their rights in Mill Creek. The contract shows these were the rights decreed to the Hoagland and Murphy Ditch referred to in the Morse decree and these rights were conveyed by the exchange agreement to Salt Lake City. The Articles of Incorporation of the White Ditch Company, Exhibit 21, show that it is the owner of the water rights of the "White Ditch" in Mill Creek stream and the exchange contract shows the company conveyed all its water rights under the Morse decree to the City.

The defendant association argued, and no doubt will contend on this appeal, that under the Morse decree the rights of these three companies in Mill Creek water were limited to use for irrigation purposes. Since the Morse decree fixes the irrigation season from April 1 to October 1, if the defendant association's position is correct then the City acquired nothing more by its exchange contracts than the right to substitute its irrigation water for the irrigation rights of these three companies. Under such a condition the exchange agreement would be void as the City would have no power to make a perpetual contract to deliver culinary water to the water companies named if it received no culinary water rights in exchange

Mathew Young, son of Martha Young named as plaintiff in the Morse decree, who was 83 years old, testified that as long as he could remember the people of the Brigham Young Ditch used the water for culinary purposes, some taking the water direct from the ditch and others diverting the water of the ditch into cisterns. He further testified that long before the exchange contract with Salt Lake City this use had been in effect and continued until they got culinary water from the City under the exchange agreement (R. 72, 73). It was stipulated that the witnesses present would testify that the same use of water for culinary purposes was made by the people of the White Ditch and Hoagland and Murphy Ditch, and they stopped such use only when the City supplied them culinary water under the exchange agreements. Under the terms of

these exchange agreements the three companies conveyed their water rights in Mill Creek to the City and the City in turn agreed to furnish culinary water in a pipe system under pressure and irrigation water at the ditches. In case of default by the city the water rights were to revert back to the companies. Under the exchange agreement with the East Mill Creek Water Company the city has the right to deliver through its culinary system for the benefit of the company's stockholders water of Mill Creek or other water of as good quality.

The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law made and entered by Judge Morse in support of the Morse decree were introduced in evidence as Exhibit 25. The Findings of Fact clearly show that each of the ditches covered by the exchange agreements owned and used water for domestic purposes. Paragraph 7 states that the primary users of the stream, when the flow was 29.03 second feet or less, "at periods between 25 and 50 years prior to commencement of this action, appropriated, diverted and used for irrigation and *domestic purposes* all of the waters of said stream, (excepting the house use streams) until the flow thereof amounts to 29.03 cubic feet per second, and ever since their appropriation they have so used said water." Then follows the proportions in which the various ditches have so used the water, naming among others, the four ditches through which the applicant claims, and also the Frank-



lin and John Neff Ditch, the Amos H. Neff Ditch, the Brigham Young Ditch, the Hoagland and Murphy Ditch and the White Ditch.

In paragraph 8 it is found that for 20 to 30 years prior to the commencement of the action, the owners of the second class water rights have appropriated, diverted, and used for irrigation and *domestic purposes* the water flowing in excess of 29.03 cubic feet per second and less than 41.93. The same four ditches relied on by applicant and the same five ditches relied on by plaintiff are named as having so used the water in proportions named.

In paragraph 9 the surplus rights are designated as being water in excess of 41.93 cubic feet per second and these waters are likewise found to have been appropriated, diverted and used for *irrigation* and *domestic* purposes by these same ditches.

Thomas McDonald, acting as court commissioner under the Morse decree since and including 1931, testified that during all of this time he had distributed the water of Mill Creek under the decree. He had distributed to East Mill Creek Water Company, the waters decreed to the John and Franklin Neff Ditch, the Amos H. Neff Ditch and the Brigham Young Ditch; to the Lower Mill Creek Irrigation Company the water decreed to the Hoagland and Murphy Ditch and to the White

Ditch Irrigation Company the water decreed to the White Ditch (R. 81). The combined flow of these ditches comprises 75% of the flow of Mill Creek (R. 82).

Incidentally, Mr. McDonald testified too that 1.55 cubic feet per second amounts to over one million gallons a day and that the total number of houses getting house use water at the time application No. 70 was filed did not exceed 20. So that it appears defendant association is claiming culinary water at the rate of 50,000 gallons per day per house, which clearly indicates, as found by Judge Morse, that the purpose of the house use streams was not confined to furnishing culinary water but included irrigation water as well.

Salt Lake City used the water of Mill Creek acquired under these exchange agreements in its water distribution system until 1939. Because of the high degree of contamination it has not since used the water except to deliver it to the three companies for irrigation uses. In the meantime, however, the owners of the house use streams have used the same for their domestic uses notwithstanding this contamination.

From the testimony of Amber G. Knight, the City Sanitation Engineer, it appears that the water issuing from Boundary Springs is pure water meeting the requirements of the U. S. Public Health Service without treatment (R. 86). The water of the stream both above and below Boundary Springs is highly contaminated. How-

ever, the water of Mill Creek below the springs is slightly better. The general pattern shown by tests he conducted shows the water in the creek 100 yards below Boundary Springs was slightly improved over that above the springs "indicating that the water which has commingled with the stream below Boundary Springs as a result of overflow would improve the water because of it having commingled with the stream water." The natural result of commingling pure water with contaminated water would be to lessen the degree of contamination (R. 86, 87).

### SPECIFICATIONS OF ERROR

The court erred in granting the application for the following reasons:

(a) There was no evidence to warrant the granting of an exchange application.

(b) The evidence shows that part of 1.5675 second feet claimed by Boundary Springs Water Users Association, and sought to be diverted from Boundary Springs is irrigation water and no application for change of use has ever been made; and the court erred in granting the application to divert the full 1.5675 second feet for culinary use. Further, since there was no evidence as to what proportion was an irrigation water right and what was a culinary water right the application should have been denied in toto.

(c) The court had no jurisdiction or power presently in this proceeding to adjudge that the Boundary Springs Water Users Association is entitled to a State Engineer's certificate granting it a permanent right to divert up to 1.5675 second feet, or any other quantity, of water of Boundary Springs pursuant to said Application No. 70, even though subject to rights of protestants.

(d) The diverting of the water from Boundary Springs has the effect of modifying and changing the terms of the Morse decree.

(e) The evidence was without dispute that granting the application to take 1.5675 second feet at Boundary Springs would invade the rights of Salt Lake City and other owners owning rights in the waters of Mill Creek.

## ARGUMENT

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