1953

Salt Lake City v. Boundary Springs Water Users Association and Joseph M. Tracy : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS PROOF OF AVAILABILITY OF WATER OF LIKE QUALITY AND QUANTITY FOR THE PURPOSE USED AND THE GRANTING OF APPLICATION NO. 70 BY THE STATE ENGINEER WAS PROPER.

Any person entitled to the use of water has a right to change the manner of using it or to exchange it for other water if the proposed change will not interfere with vested rights. Kinney on Water Rights, p. 1538. Even if vested rights will be interfered with, the owner of the water right is entitled to make the change if the order of approval can be made with conditions which will protect other vested rights. Very early in the development of the law of appropriation attempts were made to limit the right to use water to its initial mode of enjoyment. However, the courts and legislatures of practically all of the Western states have held that the

water right is independent of the mode of enjoyment, and that changes may be made in the place of use, the point of diversion, or the mode of enjoyment. This general statement is supported by all the general texts. See "Wiel Water Rights of the Western States," Vol. 1, page 529; "Hutchins Selected Problems in the Law of Water Rights in the West," page 378; "Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights," Vol. 2, page 1499.

In Utah the right to make a change in the mode of enjoyment of water has been a rather frequent subject of litigation, and it may be considered as settled law that the right to make the change is granted by statute and will only be denied where the change will injure the vested rights of others, and where the order approving the change cannot be so conditioned as to protect those rights. See *Sigurd City v. State*, 105 Utah 278, 142 P. 2d 154; *Tanner v. Humphries*, 87 Utah 164, 148 P. 2d 484.

In *Tanner v. Humphries*, supra, the court had before it a change application and an exchange. The plaintiff applicant was non-suited when he rested. He appealed to the Supreme Court. The court said:

If the point of diversion may be changed and the exchange made as applied for by the plaintiff without affecting any vested right of the power company, or if a decree can be made containing such conditions as will safeguard the rights of the power company and at the same time permit of the delivery of water for municipal purposes, plaintiff is entitled to have her application granted.

The court then indicated that the burden of proving that the exchange could be made was on the plaintiff, but that:

* * * it may be that the plaintiff should put in general proof that the change will not injure or disturb vested rights, but if so, it is rather in homage to the general rule that he is required to offer proof in support of all of his allegations, because as a practical matter those who protest will most likely be better situated to know wherein they will be injured than will the plaintiff.

Thus, applicant has a right to make the change unless it will interfere with the City's vested rights, and the City had the general responsibility of demonstrating to the Court the manner in which its rights will be impaired.

It should also be noted that Section 73-3-20, U.C.A. 1953, under which Application No. 70 was filed, provides that exchanges may be granted "but in so doing the original water * * * must not be deteriorated in quality or diminished in quantity for the purpose used." It is respondents' contention that the appellant has made no showing to bring it within that part of the statute as the evidence is conclusive that the present use of the water of Mill Creek is exclusively for irrigation.

The control over the water was effectually assigned to the Boundary Springs Water Users Association by the Articles of Incorporation and by the certificates of stock received in evidence as exhibit 5 and which provided:

The issuance and acceptance of this certificate shall operate as a transfer to the Boundary Springs Water Users Association of the right to apply to the State Engineer of the State of Utah for a permit to change the point of diversion and use of water owned by the holder of this certificate equal to .01 second feet of water for each share of stock evidenced by the certificate and the transfer of such water shall be and remain irrevocable so long as this certificate is outstanding or until it is cancelled by order of the Board of Directors of the Association.

The essence of appellant's Point I is that the appellant failed to show that it (the corporation) had water available to put into Mill Creek stream in exchange for the water it proposed to take at Boundary Springs. The water of Mill Creek is decreed by the Morse Decree, which was introduced in evidence. An abstract chart showing the conveyance from the decreed owner to the present owner was also admitted in evidence by stipulation to show the various chains of title. The Morse Decree, plus the abstract chart and the list of stockholders, show that the stockholders of Boundary Springs are the owners of decreed water rights in Mill Creek. In addition to the power granted to Boundary Springs by the stockholders, as set forth in the stock certificate, the stockholders who were present testified that they were familiar with the application filed by Boundary Springs, that it was authorized on their behalf to make the application, and that they affirmed and ratified its action. It was stipulated that each other stockholder of Boundary Springs would testify to the same effect as to his decreed

water if he were called as a witness. We, therefore, respectfully submit that Boundary Springs was authorized on behalf of the decreed owners of water to apply for the change described in the application. It was not contradicted that these decreed owners who associated themselves together by forming a mutual non-profit water corporation, proposed to leave the water accruing under their decreed rights in Mill Creek to supply the lower users and to take in exchange therefor a like quantity of water from Boundary Springs.

There is, of course, nothing unusual in the law of water rights for decreed owners to retain the ownership of the water rights themselves while transferring the right to manage, distribute and control to a mutual water company. This practice has been uniformly recognized by the decisions of this court. See, for example, *Genola Town v. Santaquin City*, 96 Utah 88, 80 P. 2d 930, and *East River Bottom v. Boyce*, 102 Utah 149, 128 P. 2d 277.

The objection raised by the City in this regard is purely technical. Technical objections are not looked upon by the courts with favor unless they are timely raised. The City filed a written protest, (see Ex. 14) and appeared before the State Engineer at a hearing to consider the approval or rejection of the application. The City failed to raise any objection at that time to the fact that the application was made by the corporation, rather than by the individual decreed owners. If there were any technical deficiency in this regard (which we deny), it could certainly have been cured at that point.

Further, this point is not raised by plaintiff's complaint, nor was it raised at the pre-trial. We submit that the stipulation to the effect that each decreed owner would testify that he authorized the corporation to make this application, plus the authorization granted by the articles and recited in the stock certificates, are adequate to remove this matter from doubt.

POINT II

IT WAS NOT ERROR FOR THE COURT TO AFFIRM THE DECISION OF THE STATE ENGINEER IN APPROVING APPLICATION NO. 70 AND ALL PARTIES CONCERNED HAD PROPER NOTICE OF THE SAID APPLICATION.

This contention is extremely technical and after full consideration of the question as to whether the exchange form or the application for change of point of diversion form would be the correct form to use, we are convinced that the exchange form was as held by the State Engineer, the correct form. The purpose was to release water from the right of diversion from the main channel of Mill Creek and in turn, to take the same quantity of water from the Boundary Springs before the flow from the Springs became a part of Mill Creek proper. As quoted in the brief for the appellants, the application was made upon blanks furnished by the State Engineer who made minor corrections. The purpose throughout was made perfectly clear and that is all that the law contemplates.

It is contended that the notice, Exhibit 16, was insufficient. The notice names the rights decreed in the Morse Decree and specifies that it is the purpose to divert the water from Boundary Springs and convey it through a pipeline for domestic and stock watering purposes and for incidental irrigation of lawns and shrubs and that water theretofore diverted would remain in the natural channel of Mill Creek to satisfy other rights diverting from Mill Creek. There is no merit whatsoever in Point 2, for if there was error in using the wrong form, it was waived by the State Engineer and by the plaintiff.

The State Engineer, under various sections of Title 73, is empowered to furnish the blanks upon which the various applications are to be made. By the same statutes, applicants are directed to use the blanks furnished by the State Engineer; see, for example, Sections 73-3-2, 73-3-3 and 73-5-13. The statute dealing with exchanges, (73-3-20) merely requires the application to be in writing.

Also, by express statute (73-2-1) the State Engineer has been granted power "to make and publish such rules and regulations as may be necessary from time to time fully to carry out the duties of his office." The rules and regulations of the State Engineer were introduced in evidence as Exhibit 18. Rule 8 provides that applications shall be made only upon the printed forms furnished by the State Engineer. Thirteen separate types of application blanks are thereafter enumerated. Paragraph 2, page 2 then provides:

An application received upon an improper or obsolete form, filled out in substantial compliance with the law, and accompanied by the proper fee, will be received. However, the applicant shall upon request of the State Engineer replace it with an application on a proper form.

Neither the rules nor the statutes set forth any particular criteria for determining which of the thirteen blanks should be used for a particular purpose. The change and exchange application forms were introduced in evidence at the trial to show the similarity of the information requested. Reference to the photographs introduced in evidence shows that Boundary Springs issue from the bank of the stream, but the water can be successfully captured before it reaches the stream by a concrete wall and drain field, located between the springs and the creek. Whether Boundary Springs and Mill Creek are two separate and distinct sources of water, so that they should be covered by an exchange application, might be debatable. The State Engineer directed that the exchange blank be used. He had the authority to so require under both the statutes and his rules and regulations. The applicant complied with the State Engineer's instructions in this regard. (R. 64-65.)

This is another technical matter raised by the City for the first time during the trial. It was not raised in the written protest filed with the State Engineer, nor at the hearing before the State Engineer, nor in the complaint, nor at the pre-trial. Nor has the City alleged, nor proved how it claims to have been prejudiced by the

use of one blank rather than the other. The City is not in the position of having been misled by the notice into failing to protest or participate in the proceedings. It did appear in every stage of the proceedings. It fully knew at all times what was proposed.

The City has not shown, nor can it show, any prejudice to it, and it is respectfully submitted that the City is not entitled to prevail on Point II.

POINT III

THE RIGHTS OF THE APPLICANT WERE DESIGNATED IN THE MORSE DECREE AS "HOUSE USE STREAMS" WHICH, LIKE THE APPLICATION INCLUDES STOCKWATERING AND IRRIGATION.

The use of the water decreed under the Morse Decree and the use of the water to be made through the pipeline from Boundary Springs, as stated in Application No. 70, under "Explanatory" and paragraph 12, was for domestic and stock watering purposes. Certainly domestic use in this country would include lawn sprinkling and minor irrigation of garden vegetables, if any, provided an excessive amount of water is not used.

Apparently the City's contention is that because the "house use stream" given by the Morse Decree included the use of the water for irrigation purposes, while the application filed merely specified the use as for "domestic and stock watering purposes," the application could not

be approved. We believe that the application sufficiently reflects that it is the intention to transfer these "house use streams" from Mill Creek to Boundary Springs to the full extent of the 1.5675 c.f.s., decreed rights; and that the water is to be used for household purposes.

The authorities support the concept that "domestic use" is synonymous with "household use" and includes culinary, lawn and garden watering and livestock watering. In *Bountiful City v. DeLuca*, 77 Utah 107, 292 P. 194, at page 119 of the Utah Reports, the Utah Court was considering the meaning of a statute and indicated that the term "use for domestic purposes" includes watering livestock. In "Gould on Waters," Section 205, page 397, Third Ed., it is stated that:

The term "domestic purposes" extends to culinary and household purposes, to the watering of a garden, and to the cleaning and washing, feeding and supplying the ordinary quantity of cattle. It would appear to extend also to brewing, and the washing of carriages, but it does not include such manufacturing uses as grinding, washing and cooling of rubber.

See also, "Wiel, Water Rights in the Western States," page 798, footnote 22, and "Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights," Vol. 2, page 1195.

Here again the City raises a highly technical point, which was not presented in its protest to the State Engineer, nor at the hearing before the State Engineer, nor in its complaint, nor at the pre-trial, nor do we remember the matter having been argued at all before the trial

court. Nor does the City now show the manner in which it could be prejudiced in this regard. The quantity of water which the applicant seeks to exchange embraces all of the water decreed to its stockholders by the Morse Decree. It totals 1.5675 c.f.s. The exact manner in which they intend to take and use the water is specified, and is characterized as for "domestic and stock watering purposes." The term "domestic uses" is not defined in the application, but it is used as it has been uniformly used in the administration of water rights in this state to govern all normal and ordinary household uses. It was in this sense that the streams decreed to the applicant's stockholders were characterized by the Morse Decree as "house use" streams, for in Finding 6, the court referred to a "continuous stream for culinary, stock watering, domestic and irrigation purposes, being streams commonly known as house use streams." The application is adequate in this regard, and the court should not in any event look with favor upon technical arguments such as this raised for the first time on appeal.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECREERING THAT THE APPLICANT IS ENTITLED TO THE APPROVAL OF HIS APPLICATION AND TO A CERTIFICATE FROM THE STATE ENGINEER GRANTING A PERMANENT RIGHT TO DIVERT UP TO 1.5675 SECOND FEET OF WATER FROM BOUNDARY SPRINGS PURSUANT TO APPLICA-

TION NO. 70 UPON PROPER PROOF OF BENEFICIAL USE.

The decree of the court, as drafted and submitted, approved and confirmed the issuance of Permit No. 70, and it decreed the right to divert and use up to 1.5675 second feet of water of Boundary Springs pursuant to Application No. 70. Protective provisions are inserted in the decree to the effect that the decreed water would be under the supervision and control of the court commissioner as provided in the Morse Decree, and it was without prejudice to the right of any claimant to the water of Mill Creek to initiate and prosecute a plenary suit or suits for the adjudication of the claims of all water users of Mill Creek, whether claiming under the Morse Decree or otherwise. The court concludes that such issues are not before the court and then the court directs the State Engineer to issue a certificate showing authority to make a change, the certificate to contain a provision to the effect that the granting of the application is without prejudice to vested interest.

The court, of course, without express language, contemplated that proof of the diversion and beneficial use of the water would be made as required by the statute. In other words, we read into the decree the statutory provisions respecting the change of water which are fundamental to all water rights. That is the water must be diverted and beneficially used and proof must be submitted before the right to the use is perfected and a certificate issued.

POINT V

THE DIVERTING OF WATER FROM BOUNDARY SPRINGS UNDER APPLICATION NO. 70 DOES NOT IMPROPERLY MODIFY OR CHANGE THE TERMS OF THE MORSE DECREE.

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